
Kent Taylor Civic Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities.  A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made a least 48 hours before the meeting to the City Recorder (503) 435-
5702 or claudia.cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov.   

        
Kent Taylor Civic Hall 

 200 NE Second Street 
 McMinnville, OR 97128 
 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Tuesday, May 26, 2020  

6:00 p.m. – Level 10 Meeting - CANCELLED  
6:00 p.m. – Executive Session (CLOSED TO THE PUBLIC) 

7:00 p.m. – Regular Council Meeting 
Executive Session – to immediately follow the regular meeting  

of the City Council (CLOSED TO THE PUBLIC) 
 

REVISED 05/21/2020  

 
 

 

 
 

 

Welcome! The public is welcome to attend, however if you are not feeling well, please stay home 
and take care of yourself. In accordance with Governor Kate Brown's Executive Order 2020-12 we 
are limiting the amount of people at Civic Hall and if we meet capacity we may ask you to leave.  

 
The public is strongly encouraged to relay concerns and comments to the Council in one of three 

ways: 
• Email at any time up to 12 p.m. the day of the meeting to 

Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov;  
• If appearing via telephone only please sign up prior to the meeting by emailing the  

City Recorder at Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov as the chat function is not available  
when calling in zoom; 

• Join the zoom meeting; send a chat directly to City Recorder, Claudia Cisneros, to request to 
speak and use the raise hand feature in zoom to request to speak, once your turn is up  

we will announce your name and unmute your mic.   
______________________________________________________________________________ 

 
You can live broadcasts the City Council Meeting on cable channels Xfinity 11 and 331,  

Frontier 29 or webstream here: 
www.mcm11.org/live 

 

 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING: You may join online via Zoom Meeting:  

https://mcminnvilleoregon.zoom.us/j/96304061331?pwd=Q0ZIdW9hSDArK0htQU1iYk9ncVNFUT09 
Zoom ID: 963-0406-1331 
Zoom Password: 056423 

 

 Or you can call in and listen via zoom:  1-253- 215- 8782 
ID: 963-0406-1331 

 

 
6:00 PM – LEVEL 10 MEETING –CANCELLED 

 
6:00 PM –EXECUTIVE SESSION – VIA ZOOM (NOT OPEN TO THE PUBLIC) 

       1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

1

mailto:claudia.cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov
mailto:Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov
mailto:Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov
http://www.mcm11.org/live
https://mcminnvilleoregon.zoom.us/j/96304061331?pwd=Q0ZIdW9hSDArK0htQU1iYk9ncVNFUT09


Kent Taylor Civic Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities.  A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made a least 48 hours before the meeting to the City Recorder (503) 435-
5702 or claudia.cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov.   

2.  Executive Session pursuant to ORS 192.660(2)(f): To consider information or records that are exempt 
by law from public inspections. (The records and information to be reviewed are exempt from public 
inspection pursuant to ORS 192.355(9)(a) and ORS 40.225 (Attorney-Client Privilege). 

 

       3.   ADJOURNMENT  
 
 
    7:00 PM – REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING – VIA ZOOM & COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL 
 
 
 

2. INVITATION FOR PUBLIC COMMENT – The Mayor will announce that any interested audience members are invited to 
provide comments. Anyone may speak on any topic other than:  a matter in litigation, a quasi-judicial land use matter; or a 
matter scheduled for public hearing at some future date.  The Mayor may limit comments to 3 minutes per person for a total 
of 30 minutes.  The Mayor will read comments emailed to City Recorded and then any citizen participating via Zoom.   
 

3. ADVICE/ INFORMATION ITEMS 
a. Reports from Councilors on Committee & Board Assignments 
b. Department Head Reports 

i. Visit McMinnville Status Update – Jeff Towery 
  
 4. CONSENT AGENDA 

a. Consider Minutes of the October 16, 2019 City Council Work Session Meeting.    
b. Consider Minutes of the October 22, 2019 City Council Work Session and Regular Meeting. 

 
5.   RESOLUTION 

a. Consider Resolution No. 2020-32: A Resolution accepting the CARES Act airport grant offer and 
authorizing the City Manager to execute an agreement with the Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA). (Added 5/21/2020) 

 
6.   ADJOURNMENT  

 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – IMMEDIATELY FOLLOW THE REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING - VIA ZOOM (NOT 
OPEN TO THE PUBLIC) (moved from 6pm to after regular city council meeting) 
 

      1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2.  Executive Session pursuant to ORS 192.660(2)(h): To consult with counsel concerning the legal 
rights and duties of a public body with regard to current litigation or litigation likely to be filed. 
 

3.   ADJOURNMENT  
 
 

2

mailto:claudia.cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov


CITY OF McMINNVILLE 
MINUTES OF CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

Held at the Kent L. Taylor Civic Hall on Gormley Plaza 
McMinnville, Oregon  

 
Wednesday, October 16, 2019 at 5:30 p.m.  

 
Presiding:  Scott Hill, Mayor 
 
Recording Secretary:   Rebecca Holmes 
  
Councilors:  Present   
 Remy Drabkin    
 Adam Garvin    
 Zack Geary       

Wendy Stassens 
Sal Peralta 
Kellie Menke, Council President    
      
Also present were City Attorney David Koch, City Manager Jeff Towery, 
Planning Director Heather Richards, Planning Commissioner Susan Dirks, 
and members of the News Media – Tom Henderson, News Register.     

 
1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Hill called the meeting to order at 5:40 p.m. 

and welcomed all in attendance.   
 
2. DISCUSSION:  Land Use Public Hearing Processes 
 
 Planning Director Richards said at the last Council Work Session there had 

been discussion about de facto public hearings for land use decisions. The 
current process was hearings went to the Planning Commission who made 
recommendations to the City Council. The Council could elect to move 
those items forward as an action and approve them or decide to hold a 
public hearing on the items. Some communities had a similar process, some 
used a de facto public hearing for Type III and Type IV land use actions, 
which were more impactful decisions, and some used a Hearings Officer. 
The Council had decided not to pursue using a Hearings Officer.  

 
 There was discussion regarding what items were brought to the Council as 

de facto public hearings and the 120 day deadline for applications. 
Planning Director Richards stated if they wanted to go to de facto public 
hearings at City Council, the Planning Commission would have to meet 
more often due to the 120 day deadline. 

 
 Councilor Garvin suggested if there was a timing issue, that the Planning 

Commission hold a Special Meeting to make a decision on an application.  

33



 Planning Commissioner Dirks thought that it would be reasonable to 
continue a hearing to two weeks instead of waiting another month. 

 
 Mayor Hill said it would only be for the controversial hearings. In his 16 

years on Council, there had only been 2-3 that were controversial. 
 
 Councilor Stassens was not sure changing the whole system was necessary. 

The Planning Commission did a great job and the only time there was an 
issue was when they ran into the 120 day deadline.  

 
 Planning Director Richards said the contentious applications ended up 

taking a lot longer and needing more staff time. If they knew an application 
was going to be contentious, they let the applicants know that the deadline 
would most likely need to be extended. The applicants decided how long 
the deadline would be extended. 

 
 Councilor Peralta asked what the downside would be to just defaulting to a 

public hearing with the City Council. The non-contentious applications 
would not take much extra time. It would only be lengthy for the 
contentious ones. It would eliminate the current two-step process. 

 
 Council President Menke thought that would be micro-managing what the 

Planning Commission was doing. Most of the time all of the issues were 
resolved at the Planning Commission level. 

 
 Planning Director Richards said if they knew it would be going to Council, 

staff would be able to post a notice as soon as the Planning Commission 
made a decision and it would go to the next City Council meeting. 
Historically most land use decisions had not gone to a public hearing with 
the Council.  

 
 City Manager Towery explained the notification process for de facto 

hearings, and how there needed to be a 28 day notice. That would push 
everything that came out of the Planning Commission to a later Council 
meeting, which might affect the 120 day timeline even for non-
controversial hearings. 

 
 City Attorney Koch clarified the cost for the additional noticing, which was 

$1,750 per hearing. 
 
 Planning Director Richards said there would also need to be more staff 

time. If the Council wanted to hold de facto hearings on all applications, 
staff would work to maintain the 120 day clock and suppress it if need be to 
make sure the timeline would be met. 

 
Councilor Stassens said the problem they were trying to solve was for a 

44



small number of applications. Making all applications a de facto hearings 
with Council would be costly and take up more staff time. 

 
 Councilor Geary thought they should look into the Planning Commission 

holding Special Meetings to get items on the Council’s agenda faster. The 
Planning staff and Planning Commission spent a lot of time working with 
the applicant to make the application the best it could be and to work. 

 
 Planning Director Richards said if after reviewing an application and it did 

not meet the criteria, they let the applicant know that it was being 
recommended for denial. Typically applicants would ask to change the 
application to meet the criteria and staff would meet with them to discuss 
how it could be changed.  

 
 Councilor Geary said there was a perception that the Planning staff was on 

the applicant’s side and trying to get applications approved. Planning 
Director Richards said that was sometimes the position of those opposing 
an application. It was staff’s job to bring the Planning Commission and 
City Council the best information that they could so the decision making 
bodies could make informed decisions. They were also helping the City 
mitigate risks on future legal actions. They were in a neutral position when 
it came to applications. 

 
 City Attorney Koch said it was not staff trying to get to a yes, but the 

applicant trying to get to a yes. Staff was explaining to the applicant how it 
did not meet the criteria and what the applicant could do to meet it. 

 
 Councilor Peralta suggested changing the format of the public hearing 

where citizen testimony was taken before the staff report like the County 
did. It might help people feel more heard in the process. 

 
 Planning Director Richards said often the staff report answered citizen 

questions and concerns so they might not need to testify. It would also put 
staff in a rebuttal position. She could talk to the County about their process. 

 
 Mayor Hill also thought having the staff report first helped the Council be 

on the same page with the same knowledge and they were more prepared 
for what the public had to say.    

 
 Councilor Drabkin said the question was if they thought their land use 

process was broken, and if not, why were they having this conversation. 
 
 Councilor Geary thought it was not whether the system was broken and 

how to fix it, but that there was more clarity about the process. It was worth 
assessing to make sure they were doing the best they could. 

 

55



 Councilor Drabkin said if it was about confusion about how the process 
worked, the Council could get more training so they were more prepared 
and not put additional stress on staff by rearranging things. 

 
 Councilor Geary asked what percentage of the criteria applications had to 

meet to get to a yes and what was a no. Planning Director Richards stated 
they started with the Comprehensive Plan policies, then any specific plans 
that applied, and then the Development Code. All of the ones that were 
relevant applied. When something was appealed to LUBA, it was appealed 
on the findings. The findings were technical science legal language that 
gave the basis for the decision. If the application met the code, they had to 
perform at a certain level, and if they made a finding that the application 
did not have to perform at that level for certain reasons, that opened up a 
weak link that could be appealed. 

 
 Councilor Garvin asked if the opposition did their own traffic study and 

those numbers came back different from the applicant’s, how would 
Council know what was credible and relevant. Planning Director Richards 
said they would need to rely on staff. Staff would review the two studies 
and bring back their analysis to the Council so they could make an 
informed decision. If staff did not have the expertise to review it, they 
would outsource it to a professional third party for the analysis. 

 
 There was discussion regarding the Oak Ridge Meadows application and 

the traffic study information that caused confusion and looked arbitrary. 
 
 Mayor Hill said the consensus of Council was to keep the same policy they 

had in place currently, but for the contentious applications that would 
probably go to Council, staff would either work with the applicant to 
extend the timeline in advance or the Planning Commission could hold a 
Special Meeting to help the process move quicker. He also thought the 
Council would benefit from land use training. 

 
 Planning Director Richards clarified that staff would still be bringing the 

recommendations of the Planning Commission to Council and Council 
would determine whether or not they would hold a public hearing. Staff 
could also work on shortening the staff reports given during the meetings. 
She would work on setting up some training as well. 

 
 Planning Commissioner Dirks said regarding the perception of unfairness, 

it was only a perception. She thought the process was fair at both the 
Planning Commission and City Council levels. Members of the public did 
not necessarily understand the land use process and because it was their 
neighborhood they were emotional about it. One of the most important 
things they could do was at the beginning of the hearing to explain the 

66



process in a manner that was easily understood and how the testimony 
needed to focus on how the application met or did not meet the criteria.  

 
 Mark Davis, McMinnville resident, was concerned that the public hearing 

was at the Council’s choice. He was in favor of all the hearings coming 
before the Council because it would be hard for the Council to determine 
who did or did not want a hearing. Either that, or change the process so the 
Planning Commission did not make recommendations, but made final 
decisions that could be appealed to the Council. He did not think the 
current process guaranteed a citizen’s right to be heard at the Council. 

 
 Planning Director Richards said they would make their best effort to make 

sure they stayed within the 120 day deadline and all of the public testimony 
was heard. 

 
 Councilor Stassens thought it was well documented that the City wanted 

citizen involvement. She thought this direction would still allow that.  
 

3. ADJOURNMENT:  Mayor Hill adjourned the Work Session at 6:51 p.m.  
 

____________________________________ 

       Claudia Cisneros, City Recorder 

 
 
 

    
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

77



CITY OF McMINNVILLE 
MINUTES OF CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

Held at the Kent L. Taylor Civic Hall on Gormley Plaza 
McMinnville, Oregon  

 
Tuesday, October 22, 2019 at 6:00 p.m.  

 
Presiding:  Scott Hill, Mayor 
 
Recording Secretary:   Rebecca Holmes 
  
Councilors:  Present   Excused Absence  
 Adam Garvin   Remy Drabkin   
 Zack Geary       

Wendy Stassens 
Sal Peralta 
Kellie Menke, Council President    
      
Also present were City Attorney David Koch, Interim Finance Director 
Elizabeth Comfort, Fire Chief Rich Leipfert, Planning Director Heather 
Richards, Associate Planner Jamie Fleckenstein, Parks and Recreation 
Director Susan Muir, Parks and Recreation Representatives Anne Lane and 
Katie Noyd, Library Director Jenny Berg and members of the News Media 
– Tom Henderson, News Register and Jerry Eichten, McMinnville 
Community Media.     

 
1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Hill called the meeting to order at 6:04 p.m. 

and welcomed all in attendance.   
 
2. PRESENTATION:  Recreational Facilities Planning Follow Up 
 
 Parks and Recreation Director Susan Muir said this was a follow-up to the 

October 8 Work Session where the consulting team gave the final report on 
the Recreational Facilities Study. Tonight Council was going to hear from 
Parks and Recreation staff about steps to move forward. There was a lot of 
discussion about staffing at the last meeting, and staff planned to give some 
background about programming. They wanted to go through the process 
and to be right-sized for McMinnville. This would help improve service 
because right now they were held back because of the current buildings. 
They were barriers to providing great services to the community. The 
conversations about a joint building had been going on for many years. 
There were many steps yet to go and a lot of community dialogue needed 
to happen. 

 
 Parks and Recreation Representatives Anne Lane and Katie Noyd said as 

they had been moving through this process, a lot of questions had come up 

88



and they knew there would be more. They were encouraged by all of the 
questions as it showed the Council and community cared and were 
interested in the future of parks and recreation. They were posting all 
questions and answers related to the project on their website, 
www.whatdoyouthinkmac.org. Council had asked questions about staffing 
and programming and how those related to recreation facilities. The staff, 
facilities, programming, and community were all related and connected. 
Recreational programming provided the community with opportunities to 
connect and engage with others, and they were able to do that every day. 
They likened a vital parks and recreation program to a garden where the 
soil was the facility which was necessary to make things grow, the sun was 
the efforts of staff, the rain was the programs that fueled the garden, the 
seeds were the community and the result was a beautiful garden. A building 
needed programming, staff, and participants to thrive. A gym space could 
transform from being blank and bare to a lively, multi-generational 
community event. A meeting room could be programmed to be a 
gymnastics studio and open pool space could become a fitness class, 
community swim lesson, and competitive swim environment. This 
happened when recreation programs were put together by staff. They 
compared current programming levels and master plan programming 
levels. Programming included resource coordination, staff training and 
background checks, cost recovery analysis, social media, Payroll and 
admin, room setup and maintenance, creative process, instructor 
recruitment, post-class surveys, curriculum, risk management, registration 
setup, purchasing equipment, scheduling, trend tracking, and promotion 
and marketing. They shared stories about some of the participants in their 
programs. 

 
 Parks and Recreation Director Muir discussed creating an advisory 

committee to work on next steps. She thought it could be made of up to 20 
people and she was working on drafting the interview questions. She 
wanted to make sure in the process that unique representation and voices 
that were not typically heard would be at the table. She asked if there were 
additional questions from Council to add to the list and if the Council was 
in support with staff moving forward with recruiting for the advisory 
committee. 

 
 Councilor Peralta was in support of the advisory committee. At the 

beginning of the process the library and cultural facilities had been 
included in this conversation, and he asked how that fit in with the 
redevelopment of the recreation facilities. 

 
 Parks and Recreation Director Muir said they would be wrapping that piece 

into the next phase. It would be done by a consultant to determine 
programming needs for library and cultural spaces as they looked at site 
locations. 

99

http://www.whatdoyouthinkmac.org/


 Councilor Geary wanted to make sure as the advisory committee and 
design moved forward that they built a facility that had durability and 
sustainability. He asked about including the other City facilities, such as the 
Fire Department. 

 
 Parks and Recreation Director Muir said they were including the 

Administration buildings in the next phase. The leadership team was 
looking at how to move all of these facilities forward, not just recreation. 

 
 Councilor Geary thought this process should continue to move along and as 

it did they needed to make sure to right-size it for the community. 
 
 Councilor Stassens was also in support of the advisory committee as a next 

step. She wanted to make sure there was a good mix of people on the 
committee. There was a lot of feedback about staffing and programming 
and it would be helpful to see what was specifically facilities based versus 
what was programming based. Also she wanted to make sure the facilities 
were right-sized so they could grow over time. 

 
 Councilor Peralta asked what the top locations were that people identified 

for a new facility.  
 
 Parks and Recreation Director Muir said downtown, near Joe Dancer Park, 

to the south and northeast. There would be a lot of opportunity to look at 
sites in the future. 

 
 Councilor Peralta asked that the materials people had submitted be added to 

the website. 
 
 Councilor Garvin was in favor of moving forward with the committee. He 

thought serving on the committee for 18 months of meetings was a big ask 
and due to the size of the committee he wanted to make sure those chosen 
would be committed to attending. 

 
 Council President Menke agreed with creating a committee. 
 
 Mayor Hill said in the strategic planning that they had been doing for the 

past three years, the consultants had told them to dream big and then set the 
priorities. This fit under the area of engagement and being inclusive. They 
needed to listen to all of the ideas. The public had a vested interest in parks 
and recreation and this was a long process to do the due diligence and bring 
a plan forward that met the priorities. Then they would need to go back out 
to the community to see what they would be willing to fund. 

 

1010



 Parks and Recreation Director Muir asked if a Councilor wanted to 
participate on the interview panel for the advisory committee members. 
Councilors Geary and Garvin volunteered. 

 
3. ADJOURNMENT:  Mayor Hill adjourned the Work Session at 6:48 p.m.  
 
   s/s Claudia Cisneros 
  Claudia Cisneros, City Recorder 
 
  

1111



  
CITY OF McMINNVILLE 

MINUTES OF CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 
Held at the Kent L. Taylor Civic Hall on Gormley Plaza 

McMinnville, Oregon  
 

Tuesday, October 22nd  at 7:00 p.m.  
 

Presiding:  Scott Hill, Mayor 
 
Recording Secretary:   Rebecca Holmes 
  
Councilors:  Present   Excused Absence  
 Remy Drabkin   N/A 
 Adam Garvin    
 Zack Geary       

Wendy Stassens 
Sal Peralta 
Kellie Menke, Council President 
    
Also present were City Attorney David Koch, Interim Finance Director 
Elizabeth Comfort, Fire Chief Rich Leipfert, Planning Director Heather 
Richards, Associate Planner Jamie Fleckenstein, Parks and Recreation 
Director Susan Muir, Parks and Recreation Representatives Anne Lane and 
Katie Noyd, Library Director Jenny Berg and members of the News Media 
– Tom Henderson, News Register and Jerry Eichten, McMinnville 
Community Media.     
      

 
1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Hill called the meeting to order at 7:02 p.m. 

and welcomed all in attendance.   
 
2.   PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

   Councilor Peralta led the pledge of allegiance. 

3. INVITATION TO CITIZENS FOR PUBLIC COMMENT:  There were no 
public comments. 

 Laura Searing, McMinnville resident and teacher, introduced students from 
the high school to talk about a climate change resolution. They knew that 
their activities were making a major impact and they needed to do more on 
every level to off-set that impact. Eight of the last ten years had been the 
warmest on record and every year they were seeing more extreme weather 
events, storms, droughts, wildfires, melting of glaciers and polar ice caps, 
and warming of the oceans. All of these changes were affecting people and 

1212



ecosystems around the globe. They were asking for help at a local level 
through the adoption of the resolution. 

 Chloe Bachman, McMinnville High School student, was concerned about 
the future and bringing kids into a world where they would have the 
responsibility to fix previous generation’s mistakes and selfishness. She 
made sacrifices in her own life to reduce the amount of environmental 
impact that she had. It was frustrating when adults chose not to. Climate 
change was not a hypothetical or a far-away problem, every season was 
warming and they would soon be subject to extreme conditions, food 
shortages, and a depressed economy. This was a climate emergency and 
they needed to act and treat it as such. 

 Sophia Hampton, McMinnville High School student, loved her world and 
wanted future generations to love it too. There was a chance that it would 
not be possible. Reports were continuously coming out about the 
detrimental effects of climate change and the timeline they were on. Some 
say that they had 30 years until they reached the 1.5 degree Celsius 
warming threshold decided by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change. Others say they had as little as 11-12 years. She was afraid for her 
future. As an adult she might be able to travel, except planes had high 
carbon emissions and half the places she wanted to go would be 
underwater. Her dream job would have to be in an industry that was not a 
huge contributor to climate issues, and she questioned bringing children 
into this world. All of her dreams had heavy strings attached, and she did 
not see a positive legacy she could leave. Wildfires and drought were the 
way things were heading. McMinnville was rich in history and innovation 
and this town was important to many people, but climate change did not 
spare anyone especially those living in poverty. According to the 2017 
census, 16% or 5,500 McMinnville residents were living in poverty. For 
these people increased food prices due to agricultural challenges, more 
extreme temperatures, and health problems due to proximity and long 
exposure to environmental hazards were very real possibilities that would 
be absolutely debilitating. Climate change would only make homelessness 
worse. They were running out of time and the City needed to lead by 
example, make positive changes, and give hope and opportunity to its 
current and future residents. 

Nicholas Peyton, McMinnville High School student, had grown up 
spending a lot of time in nature, and wanted to continue to explore the 
vibrant ecosystems he had seen on TV. However, if they continued to do 
the same things they had always done to the earth today, those ecosystems 
would not be there the same way they knew them today. They would lose 
biodiversity and thousands of species would be adversely affected. One of 

1313



the biggest contributors to greenhouse gas emissions was from 
transportation. The easiest way to cut down on it was by using public 
transportation, and larger cities had done a good job of that. He thought 
these systems also needed to be in place in small and medium sized cities 
like McMinnville. He knew they had a public transportation system in 
McMinnville but it was hard to find information on it. He thought it should 
be improved and that McMinnville should be more transit, pedestrian, and 
bike friendly. He thought they needed to act local first because there was 
lack of action in the federal government. 

Ukaia Helensteiner, McMinnville High School student, said one major 
cause of climate change was deforestation and 99% of the world’s 
temperate forests had been altered either through land clearing for 
agriculture, population growth, clear cutting for logging, or more human 
caused activities. To fix it they needed to plant more trees to take the 
carbon dioxide out of the atmosphere. They were asking the Council 
resolve to plant and maintain at least 200 more trees on the City’s property 
every year. One mature tree could absorb up to 48 pounds of carbon per 
year. Each person needed about seven trees’ worth of oxygen and the 
population of McMinnville was about 35,000. The City should have a bare 
minimum of 277,000 trees for oxygen to breath. While they might have 
enough trees to give them oxygen to breathe, it did not factor in for the 
extra pollution created by businesses and residents. For every gallon of gas 
used in a vehicle, 20 pounds of carbon dioxide was released. If the City 
could not do the planting, then she suggested making it a community event. 
She knew many people who were eager to protect future generations. In the 
1940s, about 355,000 acres of trees burned in the Tillamook forest fire. In 
response, almost one million seedlings were planted and the Tillamook 
burn was not only green again but was voraciously sequestering carbon. If 
they could organize like that back then, think what they could do with 
social media and political leaders like the Council. McMinnville was 
building up quickly. They ran the risk of cementing over all the previous 
greenspace and she encouraged the Council to regulate that a larger 
proportion of each buildable lot be permeable earth rather than unnatural 
surfaces. This would allow for native vegetation and trees to be planted and 
would help residents feel less helpless and more helpful. She did not want 
to get sick or die young because Earth could not sustain life. This was a 
climate emergency and their future was in grave danger. They all created it, 
and they all needed to fix it. 

Ethan Downs, McMinnville High School student, said this was important 
for the City he had grown up in. He wanted to do whatever he could to help 
take care of the City and community and to do that, they needed to evaluate 
the usage of energy within the City, such as the use of fossil fuels in all 

1414



City operations with a view towards reducing said use through clean and 
renewable energy options such as electric vehicle fleets, voluntary 
renewable programs, new technologies, mitigation, and other measures. He 
also asked for support for energy efficiency and demand response programs 
offered by McMinnville Water & Light and encouraged City operations, 
residents, and businesses to sign up for these programs. He also encouraged 
the education of citizens in the installation of renewable energy and energy 
efficiency measures in the construction of new and remodeled homes and 
businesses through consultation with applicants and the identification of 
financial incentives. He also encouraged commitment to working closely 
with business partners to understand McMinnville’s economy wide 
greenhouse gas emissions and the programs, partnerships, and technologies 
that could be used to reduce them. 

Megan Balmberger, McMinnville High School student, thought people 
were so caught up in themselves and their own beliefs that they overlooked 
the real global problems that they were contributing to. The most pressing 
was climate change. Youth should be worried about college and what to 
wear to football games, but instead they were worried about government, 
the well-being of their future children, and the health of the planet. They 
were tired of the debate around climate change that had been happening 
their entire lives. There was no debate. Climate change was real, and it was 
happening at an alarming rate. Global temperatures were rising at an 
alarming rate, entire eco systems were collapsing, and they were on the 
brink of a mass extinction. They could take small steps like being aware of 
their own consumption and impact and big steps like passing this resolution 
and creating legislative change across the world. In the end, it was up to 
those making the legislation and voting on the resolutions which affected 
them all. She hoped the resolution would be on the agenda in the next 
couple of months. On behalf of her generation and generations to follow, 
she urged the Council to acknowledge the climate crisis and inspire towns 
across the county and state to do the same. 

Mayor Hill thanked everyone for speaking. He would have the City 
Attorney and City Manager review the resolution and make a determination 
on what the City could do. There were items in the Strategic Plan that 
addressed resiliency and livability. When it came to sustainability, this 
Council had taken some tough stands on plastic bags. The Council listened 
and wanted to lead in this arena. 

Councilor Peralta thanked the students. He thought the requests in the 
resolution were thoughtful, well-researched and encouraged the City to do 
as much as they could to adopt as many of the items as possible and look to 
see where they could do more in these areas. A lot of these issues had been 

1515



deferred for many years, and he thought the upcoming generation would be 
able to solve and significantly address them. 

Councilor Drabkin thought there were strong statements in the resolution 
that the City could evaluate doing right away, especially in increasing 
availability of public transportation, bicycles, and ride sharing 
opportunities and pursuing LEED certification in new construction of City 
buildings and energy efficient upgrades and retrofits. There were some 
things that they had less control or say over regarding City partners as they 
could not necessarily dictate what happened within those. There was a lot 
of great content in the resolution and she thought planting 200 trees per 
year would be a great goal. She would like to hear more from staff on the 
feasibility of that knowing that City land was used for different things and 
it might not always be feasible to meet that exact number, but they could 
increase plantings. 

Council President Menke commented that the City was already doing a 
number of these things and she thought they should include the steps the 
City had already taken so everyone was aware. 

Councilor Geary thought they could get behind the resolution, but wanted 
to hear more about what the far-reaching impacts would be. He suggested 
the City look into reducing the sale of single use plastics and not holding 
events that featured gasoline in the City. He thought they could get a task 
force together to look at these issues. 

Councilor Stassens encouraged the students to keep talking because that 
was what spurred change. It helped them to remember where they were 
going as a community. The City had an ordinance about climate change, 
and she thought that should be reviewed as well. The City had a history of 
committing to solutions to climate change. 

Councilor Garvin thought this should be more narrowed down to more 
specific items that could be carried out, not just a 15 point bulletin that did 
nothing. They also had to look at the feasibility and cost to citizens. It was 
expensive to live in McMinnville, and he did not want to create more 
poverty by passing a resolution. 

Mayor Hill recognized a group of Cub Scouts in the audience who were 
working on their Citizenship in the Community badge. 

4.   PRESENTATIONS 
 
4.a.    Landscape Review Committee Annual Update 
 

Sharon Gunter, Landscape Review Committee Vice Chair, introduced the 
agenda item. 

1616



 
Associate Planner Jamie Fleckenstein provided a presentation on the 
Landscape Review Committee (LRC). He discussed the LRC’s purpose, 
responsibilities, and current members. Their 2019 accomplishments were 
28 applications reviewed to date that included 13 landscape plans, 2 street 
tree plans, 12 street tree removal requests, and 1 street tree improvement 
plan. He gave examples of landscape plans that had been reviewed 
including Falcon Suites, Olde Stone Village RV Storage, and Food Truck 
Park. In addition to plan reviews, the Committee tackled some of the 2019 
Work Plan projects including a Street Tree List update with the goals of 
being user friendly, improving diversity of the urban forest, providing more 
information to users, and reconsidering the suitability of certain tree 
species. Another Work Plan item was the Arbor Day 2019 project. The 
Arbor Day event was a requirement for the City’s Tree City USA status 
which McMinnville had for 22 consecutive years. The signage for the 2019 
tree planting and signage project was funded through an OCT grant, the 
trees were donated, and they engaged high school students and staff to help 
with the project.  
 
Councilor Menke asked how many trees were planted in the City per year. 
Associate Planner Fleckenstein was not sure. It was a high priority for the 
LRC that replacement trees be planted for any street tree removals. 
 
Mayor Hill noted that subdivision development also brought in 
significantly more trees. Council President Menke said there were several 
organizations that did annual tree plantings as well. 
 
Planning Director Richards said the LRC also had on their Work Plan to do 
an inventory of the City’s trees in partnership with youth groups and school 
districts. That project could be moved up to a higher priority. 
 
Associate Planner Fleckenstein said for 2020, the LRC would continue to 
review landscape plans, street tree plans, and street tree removal 
applications. They would coordinate the Arbor Day 2020 event and work 
on the Street Tree Inventory and Right Tree Right Place informational 
brochure. There would also be a continued discussion for the LRC to 
provide advisory review of City public improvement projects involving 
landscaping/street trees. The intent for advisory review of City projects was 
to apply some consistent process and standards for City projects and private 
development, better communication with the public, and fulfill their 
committee purpose. The LRC had requested Planning staff to explore 
legislative changes to allow advisory review of City improvement projects. 
 
Councilor Drabkin was in favor of this idea. She thought the City should be 
held to the same standards that private developers were held to. 
 

1717



Mayor Hill thought they should have a Work Session on the idea. 
 
Councilor Geary was also in favor. If there were no substantial 
ramifications, he thought they should make this change. 
 
Council President Menke was in support, but wanted to make sure they 
discussed any impacts to City departments.  
 
Councilors Drabkin and Garvin did not think it warranted a Work Session. 
After staff discussion, it could come back to Council at a regular meeting. 
 
Councilor Garvin asked if this change would create more work for staff and 
the LRC and make the process slower for projects.  
 
Associate Planner Fleckenstein said the work load would increase 
depending on how many public improvements projects there were.  
 
Councilor Geary said the LRC had talked about looking at the plans to also 
identify savings and efficiencies. 
 
Councilor Drabkin said there had been feedback about dissatisfaction with 
the City’s implementation of landscaping because native species were not 
used, ivy was growing up the side of the Planning Department, plantings 
were too close together, and future costs of maintenance and thinning had 
not been considered. She thought this change would be a benefit to the 
City. 
 
Mayor Hill thought it would be sufficient to have the conversations and 
then bring forward a proposal to a regular Council meeting. 
 
Councilor Geary said the LRC had received feedback that the real cost and 
time to comply with the rules was becoming an encumbrance and did not 
incentivize compliance. He did not know if it was something that could be 
fixed, but thought it should be a future discussion. 
 
Associate Planner Fleckenstein noted he had also received feedback from 
individuals going through the process who were surprised to find that 
adjacent property owners were responsible for street tree maintenance or 
removal and replacement. At times people had expressed concern that it 
was a lot for a property owner to bear and the process was daunting. 
 
Planning Director Richards said they had a standard for tree planting and 
there were costs associated with that in terms of the tree well and root 
barrier. Without a standard in place, the homeowner could be in a situation 
where they were replacing trees on a fairly regular basis. Regarding a street 
tree removal application, it was a lot of work for staff and the current fee 

1818



had to be subsidized because the true cost was about $1,400 and they only 
charged $150. They were trying to ensure that the community had a good 
urban forest, especially since the City did not have the resources to plant all 
of the trees. They had to work in partnership with property owners for 
street trees. 
 
Councilor Geary asked about species that had been approved in the past 
that were no longer species that were thriving and were taken off the street 
tree list.  
 
Planning Director Richards said they were working with those 
neighborhoods who still had those street trees and coming up with a street 
tree replacement plan so they did not have to go through the rigorous 
process and could have a reduced fee.  
 
Councilor Garvin noted there were two openings on the Landscape Review 
Committee and a youth position open. 
 
Associate Planner Fleckenstein said the members whose terms were 
expiring were reapplying and he had received one additional application. 
 
Councilor Garvin asked if there was anything the Council could do to 
better support the LRC. 
 
Ms. Gunter said being able to give input on City projects was important to 
the LRC. That would also help them answer questions they received from 
the public. 
 
Councilor Stassens asked about the increase in the number of street tree 
removals. 
 
Associate Planner Fleckenstein answered a lot of them were of a variety of 
tree that was planted about 20 years ago that had a 20 year life cycle.  
 
Mayor Hill added there were also a significant number due to raised 
sidewalk and bad placement issues.  
 
Councilor Stassens clarified the homeowner was responsible for replacing 
the tree and repairing the sidewalk. 
 

4.b.   Yamhill County Fire Departments Cooperative Feasibility Study 
 

Fire Chief Rich Leipfert said since 2014, he had been in conversations with 
other Fire Departments regarding creating a Fire District. In 2018, he had 
given a presentation to Council on the challenges they were facing as an 
organization regarding work load, services, and revenue. The Council had 

1919



directed him to look into creating a larger district. This Feasibility Study 
would conduct the data gathering and process to determine whether or not a 
district or some other method of collaboration would be in the best interest 
of the organization. He listed the departments who were involved in this 
process. Phase 1 of the project would be the initiation and development of a 
work plan that would identify the individuals that would be doing the tasks, 
gathering the information, establishing time tables, and establishing the 
methods. The acquisition and review of background information was where 
the heavy lift came in. There would be a lot of review on their current 
availability to meet response time standards and ambulance service 
standards. If some departments did not have these standards, they would 
use national standards. There would also be stakeholder meetings and field 
work and members of the Council would be part of the stakeholder group 
as well as the elected officials of each of the boards of the other fire 
districts and cities. Phase 2 would be the baseline agency evaluations. 
There would be an overview of the organizations that included a financial 
analysis, management components, capital facilities and apparatus, staffing 
and personnel management, service delivery and performance, and support 
programs. Phase 3 would be options for future opportunities for 
cooperative efforts. They would come up with general partnering strategies, 
options for shared services, fiscal analysis, and 3-D shared delivery service 
analysis. The consultants would provide findings and recommendations in 
a continuum of options. The options would be focused on strategies that 
had the best chance of success, highest possibility for service improvement, 
and were most favorable on the budget. Phase 4 would be the development 
and delivery of the project report. They would also provide two formal 
presentations to impacted agencies. Phase 5 was budgeted for next fiscal 
year. If the City chose to move forward, this phase would be for the 
creation of an implementation plan, strategic plan, and facilitation process. 
If they decided not to move forward with a district, but wanted to move 
forward with contractual obligations on a larger scope it would not require 
a vote and would not be the same work load as going to a full district and 
elections process. This project would take eight months to complete. The 
first three months would be consultant and staff work for the project 
initiation, developing a work plan, and baseline agency evaluations. The 
Council would be involved in the five months after that with the future 
opportunities, cooperative efforts, and project report discussions. If the 
Council decided to create a district, it would take 1-2 years to be ready for 
a vote.  
 
Mayor Hill asked about the cost of the study.  
 
Fire Chief Leipfert said it was $50,000 and all was in the current budget 
except Phase 5. Some of the partners had agreed to pay a portion of the cost 
as well. 
 

2020



Councilor Drabkin asked how involved the Fire Team was in the process at 
this point. 
 
Fire Chief Leipfert said they just got this scope of work and were waiting 
for the contract to come back. He had one meeting with the E-Board on this 
project and draft scope of work. He would be doing a presentation to all 
staff in November and the internal union would be one of the stakeholders.  
 
Councilor Peralta asked when the union would be engaged.  
 
Fire Chief Leipfert said they would be involved in the input phases and the 
conversations of what services should be provided, the work load, and 
staffing. It would be after the data collection phases. 
 
Councilor Peralta asked about the current staffing levels and meeting 
concerns raised by staff during arbitration. He was concerned about the 
timeline and if they needed to address staffing more immediately. He asked 
if any intermediate steps could be taken to address staffing. 
 
Fire Chief Leipfert said they had not added any staff. He thought they 
could look at grant opportunities for staffing. This study was only for 
consolidated feasibility, it was not bringing in consultants’ opinions about 
doing a levy between now and then. They were still facing the same 
challenges and there was still staff turnover going on. 
 
Councilor Peralta clarified all of the departments did not need to join to 
create a district. 

 
Fire Chief Leipfert said that was correct. It would be a much simpler and 
faster transition if it was the departments they were currently working with 
like Amity and Lafayette. If it included the west end and Dundee, it would 
be a different dynamic because they would have different bargaining 
groups to negotiate with. 
 
Councilor Stassens asked about the costs of the contract. 
 
Fire Chief Leipfert said the total cost was $62,000 and the City would pay 
$50,000 and the other entities would contribute the rest. 
 
Councilor Stassens clarified the benefit of the study would give them a 
clearer idea of how to optimize the collaboration of the organizations. 
 
Fire Chief Leipfert said this study would tell the Council how well the Fire 
Department was doing as well as the other organizations and show the 
Department’s weaknesses and strengths. It would also provide options and 
show whether it was in their best interest to move forward with a district. 

2121



They would also get information on the effectiveness of the fleet vehicles 
and other apparatus. 
 
Councilor Garvin asked when they would come back with recommended 
tax rates for a district.  

  
Fire Chief Leipfert said it would be in Phase 4, around month six. 
 
Mayor Hill asked if the consultant would give them insights into moving 
financially from the General Fund or levies to a Fire District. If they took it 
off of the General Fund budget, he had heard a desire from the public that 
they would not increase their fee for a period of time. 
 
Fire Chief Leipfert said the consultants would give them some feedback on 
that, but the consultants they would bring in for the marketing strategy 
would be able to give more feedback on success with an election. In many 
cases, the municipalities put a pause in their ability to use funds that were 
freed up by creating the district or committed to an incremental increase. 
This would be part of the political discussions that would occur. 
 
Councilor Garvin asked when the contract went into effect. 

 
Fire Chief Leipfert replied it would probably start in January. 
 
There was discussion regarding the grant to get more staffing.  
 
Fire Chief Leipfert explained the grant parameters were specific and he was 
not sure if he could apply yet. The grant was focused on fire fighter safety 
and four person engine companies. They were 3-4 year grants and typically 
the first year provided 75% of the costs, 50% for the second year, and 25% 
for the third year. 

 
5.    ADVICE/INFORMATION ITEMS 
 
5.a.    Reports from Councilors on Committee & Board Assignments 
 

Councilor Garvin discussed the last YCOM meeting where the Pulse Point 
project was discussed. The tax rate for 911 service had passed and the City 
would start receiving that funding next fiscal year. 
 
Councilor Geary reported on the applications reviewed by the Landscape 
Review Committee and Historic Landmarks Committee. The Kids on the 
Block was still waiting for the joint Council/School Board meeting. 
 

2222



Councilor Drabkin said the Affordable Housing Task Force would meet 
next Wednesday. The Housing for the Homeless Committee would meet 
next month. 
 
Councilor Stassens said MURAC would meet on November 6. 
 
Council President Menke said Visit McMinnville had a New York showing 
where they got a lot of influential writers to see what they were doing and 
what McMinnville was doing. An art piece was also developed. They were 
also discussing hiring another employee to do administration work. The 
Urban Growth Boundary Urbanization Committee discussed parks in the 
Urban Growth Plan and an outreach to Visit McMinnville and other entities 
on how to develop commercial property. 
 
Planning Director Richards said they were in the Employment Land Needs 
Analysis and Public/Semi-Public Land Analysis process. They discussed 
forecast needs at the last meeting, such as how much land they would need 
for the various types. At the next meeting they would combine that analysis 
with the Buildable Lands Inventory. The final report would be done by the 
end of the calendar year. 
 
Mayor Hill said the Newberg/Dundee Bypass Committee was updating 
letters of support which would be used to make a presentation to OTC in 
November. The last County Housing Solutions meeting was focused on 
homelessness issues and the last McMinnville Water & Light meeting 
included a report on station efforts and new contracts. Consistently 
McMinnville Water & Light was cutting $3 million to $4 million worth of 
timber to off-set water costs that kept them the second lowest water rate in 
the state. They had also outfitted 700 homes with LED lights, low flow 
shower heads, and power strip adapters with motion sensors through 
conservation dollars from BPA. They were also working to bring their 
budget and the City’s budget more in line. The City Manager’s annual 
review was due on November 1. The City would be getting a new phone 
system on Thursday. He encouraged everyone to vote in the November 
election. 

 
5.b.    Department Head Reports 
 

Planning Director Richards said there was a Cool McMinnville Plan that 
was adopted by the City and she could bring it back for discussion and 
there was a Sustainability Committee with an action plan that had been in 
hibernation for several years that could be revitalized. There were vacant 
youth positions on several City committees. 

 
5.c.    September Building Reports  
 

2323



5.d.    July Cash and Investment Report  
 
6. ADJOURNMENT:  Mayor Hill adjourned the Regular City Council 

Meeting at 8:58 p.m.  
 

____________________________________ 

       Claudia Cisneros, City Recorder 

 
 
 
 

    
       
 
 

2424



City of McMinnville 
Community Development Department 

231 NE Fifth Street 
McMinnville, OR  97128 

(503) 434-7311 
 

www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
DATE: May 20, 2020 
TO: Jeff Towery, City Manager 
FROM: Mike Bisset, Community Development Director 
SUBJECT: Cares Act Airport Grant Agreement 
 
 

Report in Brief:   
This action is the consideration of a resolution to accept a $69,000 CARES Act Grant from the Federal 
Aviation Administration to help fund operations at the McMinnville Municipal Airport. 
 

Background:   
The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act, signed into law by the President on 
March 27, 2020, included $10 billion in funds to be awarded as economic relief to eligible U.S. airports 
affected by the prevention of, preparation for, and response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 

The CARES Act provided funds to increase the federal share to 100 percent for Airport Improvement 
Program (AIP) and supplemental discretionary grants already planned for fiscal year 2020. Under 
normal circumstances, AIP grant recipients contribute a matching percentage of the project costs. 
Providing this additional funding and eliminating the local share will allow critical safety and capacity 
projects to continue as planned regardless of airport sponsors’ current financial circumstances. 
 

Additionally, the CARES Act provided new funds distributed by various formulas for all airports that are 
part of the national airport system. This included all commercial service airports, all reliever airports and 
some public-owned general aviation airports. 
 

Discussion:  
On April 20, 2020, the City received notification that the CARES Act included a $69,000 grant allocation 
for the McMinnville Municipal Airport.  The grant notification indicated that airport owner can use the 
funds for any purpose for which airport revenues may be lawfully used, including operational expenses. 
 

On May 12, 2020, the City submitted a Grant Application for the CARES Act funds. The FAA has 
approved the application and provided the attached CARES Act Grant Agreement 3-41-0036-020-2020 
for the City’s consideration.  The Grant must be accepted no later than June 20, 2020.  
 

The City will have four years to expend the grant funds, and complete the grant reimbursement 
processes. 
 

Attachments: 
1. FAA Grant Offer 
2. Resolution 2020-32 
 

Recommendation: 
Staff recommends the City Council adopt the attached resolution accepting the $69,000 CARES Act 
grant for the McMinnville Municipal Airport, and authorizing the City Manager to execute the grant 
agreement. 

2525

http://www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov/


2626



2727



2828



2929



3030



3131



3232



3333



3434



3535



3636



3737



3838



3939



4040



4141



RESOLUTION NO. 2020 - 32 
 

 A Resolution accepting the CARES Act airport grant offer and authorizing 
the City Manager to execute an agreement with the Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA).  
 
RECITALS:   
 
 The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act, signed 
into law by the President on March 27, 2020, included a $69,000 grant allocation 
for the McMinnville Municipal Airport.  
 
 On May 12, 2020, the City submitted a Grant Application for the CARES 
Act funds to be used for airport operational expenses.  
 
 The FAA has prepared a CARES Act Airport Grant Agreement 3-41-0036-
020-2020 awarding the funds to the City. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF McMINNVILLE, OREGON, as follows: 

 
1. The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute the 

CARES Act Grant Agreement 3-41-0036-020-2020 with the Federal 
Aviation Administration, in the amount of $69,000.00. 

2. This Resolution will take effect immediately upon passage. 
 

 Adopted by the Common Council of the City of McMinnville at a regular 
meeting held the 26th day of May 2020 by the following votes: 
 
 Ayes:              
 

 
 Nays:              
  
 
Approved this 26th day of May 2020. 
 
 
       
MAYOR 
 
 
Approved as to form:      Attest: 
 
_____________________________         ____________________________ 
City Attorney      City Recorder 

4242


	Agenda Packet 5.26.2020 - REVISED
	Agenda Packet 5.26.2020
	2019-10-19 City Council Work Session Meeting Minutes - Draft
	2019-10-22 City Council Work Session & Regular Meeting Minutes - Draft

	7.a.1. Staff Report_FAAGrant Acceptance_052020
	7.a.2. Attachment 1 - Grant Agreement
	7.a.3. Attachment 2 - Resolution

	7.a.3. Attachment 2 - Resolution



